Naloxone Administration Decision Support Tool

Naloxone Administration for Suspected Opioid Poisoning Last Update: May, 2024





Acknowledgements

The BCCDC provides services to a diverse population, including First Nations, Métis peoples and Inuit living in various settings and communities across British Columbia. As a provincial network, we operate on the unceded traditional and ancestral lands of First Nations. We recognize that there is systemic racism within and throughout our healthcare institutions, and that we individually and collectively have the responsibility and power to foster culturally safe and appropriate environments of care. We thank all individuals involved in engagement and consultation to ensure best practice is reflected in these recommendations. We are grateful to harm reduction providers who continue to work within a challenging context, and for those who continue to advocate for safer drug use practices and policies.

Prepared by

BCCDC Harm Reduction & Substance Use Services, in consultation with:

- PEEP
- Regional Health Authority stakeholders and providers, including Medical Health Officers and Regional Harm Reduction Coordinators
- BC nurses in Harm Reduction Community of Practice

This in an update to the original version, published in 2019.

© 2024 Naloxone DST

Table of Contents

Introduction
Aim
Scope
Drug Poisoning and Stigma
Drug Poisoning in British Columbia
Factors Associated with Increased Opioid Toxicity
Signs of Opioid Poisoning
Typical Signs of Opioid Poisoning10
Signs of Complex Opioid Poisoning10
Similar Clinical Presentations11
Naloxone
Responding to Suspected Opioid Poisoning14
Equipment and Scope14
Conduct an Initial Rapid Assessment of the Scene15
SAVE ME Steps
SAVE ME Steps Graphic21
Prolonged Sedation

Conduct a Secondary Assessment
Considerations for People who are Pregnant or Breast/Chestfeeding
Opioid Poisoning Response for Pregnant Persons2
Opioid Poisoning Response in Breast/chestfeeding Persons
Potential Complications
Acute Opioid Withdrawal28
Noncardiogenic Pulmonary Edema28
Monitoring and Follow-Up Care
Rebound Opioid Poisoning
A Calm, Supportive Environment29
Education
Additional Resources
Unusual Drug Poisoning Events or Clusters
Documentation
Documentation for Regulated Health Professionals
Documentation for Health Authority Sites
Debriefing and Support
References

Introduction

Aim

This document provides a systematic process intended for regulated health professionals (i.e., those who register with a regulatory body to be able to practice, such as a nurse, social worker, or physician) to follow when administering naloxone as part of the management of a suspected opioid poisoning.^a

Scope

This guidance is for any regulated health professional employed in any healthcare setting in BC, who is trained and equipped to respond to a suspected opioid poisoning,

This guidance does not replace employer or organizational policies and procedures.

Regulated health professionals are required to also follow provincial and federal legislation and regulations, organizational policies and procedures, and applicable health profession regulations.

^a The term "opioid poisoning" is used instead of "overdose" because it is a more accurate term used in toxicology to describe the physiological harms that can occur from consumption of opioids, particularly inadvertent consumption of poisoned drugs. The term "overdose" implies that an individual took too much of a substance, whether intentionally or unintentionally.

Drug Poisoning and Stigma

People who use substances experience many barriers to safe, appropriate, and high-quality care. This includes judgement, stigma, and discrimination when accessing care.¹ Healthcare professionals are often the first point of contact people who use substances have with the health system, and have a significant influence on the quality of care received.²

Using non-judgmental, people-first language and being aware of how language, organizational policies and procedures, and individual biases may be harmful to some populations can help address stigma and improve the quality of care for people who use substances.

Drug Poisoning in British Columbia

Drug poisoning deaths have risen sharply across British Columbia (BC) since the public health emergency was declared in 2016. In 2023, 2,546 people died from suspected drug poisoning, a 44% increase from 1,774 deaths in 2020.³ Fentanyl—alone or in combination with other substances continues to be frequently involved in drug poisoning deaths (85.8% from 2019-2022), followed by cocaine (44.5% from 2019-2022) and methamphetamines (41.9% from 2019-2022).³

Drug poisoning deaths disproportionately impact Indigenous peoples, males between the ages of 19-39, persons with mental health disorders, and people experiencing housing instability and poverty.^{4,5} In 2022, First Nations represented 16.4% of all drug poisoning deaths in BC, whilst constituting only 3.3% of the Canadian population.⁶ First Nations women have a particularly high rate of drug poisoning death, which is now 11.2 times the rate of non-First Nations women.⁷

Findings from provincial <u>drug checking services</u> and the <u>BC Coroners Service</u> reflect the toxicity and unpredictability of the unregulated drug supply across the province. For example, the potency of unregulated fentanyl differs widely and can contain extreme concentrations of fentanyl and other highly potent opioids (e.g., carfentanil). Unknown or harmful substances are routinely detected across the unregulated drug supply, including adulteration of opioids with stimulants, fillers, cutting agents, and other substances.

Benzodiazepines and benzodiazepine analogues^b (e.g., etizolam) are frequently identified in BC's unregulated drug supply,⁴ and are increasingly involved in drug poisoning deaths (15.8% from 2019-2022).³ Benzodiazepines combined with opioids can slow breathing and cause complex drug poisoning presentations, such as prolonged sedation.⁸ Further, the ongoing presence of benzodiazepines in the unregulated drug supply may contribute to physical dependence, which can occur quickly. People with benzodiazepine dependence may experience harmful withdrawal symptoms if benzodiazepines are abruptly stopped or decreased.⁸

Up-to-date information on the unregulated drug supply can be found on the <u>Unregulated Drug</u> <u>Poisoning Emergency Dashboard</u>.

^b For the purposes of this document, the term "benzodiazepines" includes benzodiazepine analogues.

Factors Associated with Increased Opioid Toxicity

Toxicity is the measure of how harmful, or poisonous, a substance is. Many factors influence opioid toxicity and increase the risk of an opioid poisoning.

The likelihood of experiencing an opioid poisoning varies according to⁹⁻¹¹:

- Route of ingestion (e.g., inhalation, oral, injection)
- The person's opioid tolerance
- The person's health (e.g., comorbidities, nutritional status) and pharmacokinetics (how the body interacts with the substance)
- Potency of ingested opioid (e.g., fentanyl is about 100 times more potent than morphine)
- Concurrent polysubstance use (ingestion of multiple substances at or around the same time, including prescription medications and alcohol)
- Presence of adulterants in the ingested opioid (e.g., xylazine, benzodiazepines)

Factors associated with increased risk for opioid poisoning include:

- Using unregulated substances¹¹
- Using substances alone¹¹
- Previous opioid poisoning¹¹
- Decreased tolerance from a period of reduced or no substance use (e.g., incarceration, detox)^{10,11}
- Polysubstance use,^{10,11} particularly with other respiratory or central nervous system depressants (e.g., benzodiazepines, alcohol)
- Conditions that compromise respiratory function¹⁰ (e.g., congestive heart failure, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, obesity, obstructive sleep apnea)
- Conditions that compromise liver function¹² (e.g., viral hepatitis, cirrhosis, liver failure)
- A high prescribed dose of opioids¹³ (i.e., >100 mg of morphine or equivalent daily)
- Concurrent disorders¹³ (having a substance use and mental health disorder)

Signs of Opioid Poisoning

The unpredictable and toxic unregulated drug supply in addition to the use of multiple substances at or around the same time contributes to variable signs of opioid poisoning. Opioid poisoning can appear differently from person to person, and from one situation to the next.

Typical Signs of Opioid Poisoning

Opioid poisoning is usually characterized by^{9-11,14}:

- Decreased level of consciousness: unresponsive or decreased responsiveness to verbal or painful stimuli.
- Respiratory depression: not breathing or slow, irregular, abnormal (e.g., agonal breathing, or gasping) or shallow breathing.
- Pinpoint or constricted pupils (miosis).

Impaired breathing and low levels of oxygen in the body contribute to other common signs, including^{9,11}:

- Skin, lips, and nailbeds appear blue or purple in lighter skin tones, or grey or ashen in darker skin tones.
- Cold and clammy skin.

Signs of Complex Opioid Poisoning

Complex opioid poisoning includes the above-mentioned typical signs in addition to other signs that can make management more complicated. These include:

- Muscle rigidity, characterized by¹⁵:
 - Clenched jaw
 - Rigid chest or torso
 - Decorticate posturing (abnormal body posture with arms bent in towards the body, legs straight, and fists clenched)
 - Standing, unable to sit down
 - Fixed or staring gaze, unable to speak
- Dyskinesia¹⁵ (involuntary muscle movements: "flailing")
- Prolonged sedation¹⁵ (often from a combination of substances, such as opioids with benzodiazepines)
- Seizure¹⁵

- Slow heart rate (bradycardia)^{11,15} or irregular heart rate (arrhythmia)¹⁵
- Confusion or delirium¹⁵
- Vomiting¹⁵

Similar Clinical Presentations

Sometimes there are other reasons a person may look like they are experiencing an opioid poisoning. Certain substances and medical conditions can cause a person to show signs similar to those of an opioid poisoning. For example, ingestion of central nervous system depressants (e.g., alcohol), sedative-hypnotics (e.g., z-drugs), or anxiolytics (e.g., benzodiazepines), or medical emergencies such as traumatic brain injury, diabetes-related, stroke, or heart attack may appear similar to an opioid poisoning^{14,16,17}.

Individuals responding to a suspected opioid poisoning are encouraged to involve emergency care services to ensure the person experiencing the event receives the most appropriate care, and the person responding receives support. Depending on the setting, this may mean calling 911, a code blue, or initiating other site emergency protocols.

Assessment, monitoring, and evaluation of interventions and response is necessary to avoid missing potentially critical clinical conditions that do not relate to drug poisoning.

Naloxone

Naloxone is an opioid antagonist medication that temporarily reverses the effects of opioids by attaching to opioid receptors, removing other opioids from receptors, and blocking their effects.^{18,19} Naloxone has no pharmacological effect if administered in the absence of opioids.²⁰⁻²²

In 2016, naloxone was made available to use without a prescription when responding to a suspected opioid poisoning.^{c23} Following this, the <u>Health Professions Act</u> and the <u>Emergency Health Services Act</u> were amended to allow any person to administer naloxone for suspected opioid poisonings regardless of setting (e.g., at a hospital, in the community). This includes regulated health professionals and first responders as well as people whose regular responsibilities and scope of practice does not include administration of naloxone or other drugs, such as unregulated health providers, administrative staff, and bystanders.^{24,25}

Currently in BC, intramuscular (IM) naloxone is the formulation provided by the provincial naloxone program, although naloxone is also available in intravenous, subcutaneous, and intranasal formulations.²⁰⁻²² It is important to consider that whatever formulation of naloxone a person has available, and will use, is the best formulation.

Intravenous (IV) naloxone is recommended in acute settings when administered by a regulated healthcare professional,²⁰ as it allows for rapid response in individuals with an intravenous line. Intranasal (NAS) naloxone is used by a small subset of populations for reasons such as accessibility (which includes ease of use for people with disabilities, as well as those who cannot easily replenish IM supplies), lack of IM training, and fear of injection or needles. In most community settings, and for all unregulated providers and bystanders, IM is the preferred route for suspected opioid poisonings²⁰ as research consistently shows it is superior in terms of bioavailability and outcomes.^{26,27}

The effectiveness of NAS naloxone varies. Several factors influence its effectiveness, such as²⁶⁻²⁹:

- Whether the person experiencing an opioid poisoning has impaired absorption (e.g., due to illness, septal defect, or damage from drug insufflation).
- The importance of proper insertion into the nostril so naloxone is not lost when administered.

^c For more information see the <u>BC Drug Schedules Regulation.</u>

- A longer duration in the body of approximately 2 hours, which means the person receiving NAS naloxone needs to be monitored for rebound opioid poisoning for longer than with IM naloxone.
- Greater potential for precipitated withdrawal due to a higher single dose (4mg/mL) as compared to a single dose of IM naloxone (0.4mg/mL).

Intranasal naloxone is available for free to First Nations peoples in BC: see the <u>First Nations Health</u> <u>Authority (FNHA) Fact Sheet</u> for more details.

It is recommended that providers take and regularly update drug poisoning response training, including naloxone administration (e.g., Toward the Heart's <u>Naloxone Administration Course</u>), CPR training, and other required organizational training for drug poisoning response.

Responding to Suspected Opioid Poisoning

Equipment and Scope

Opioid poisoning response varies based on available equipment, supplemental oxygen and ventilation methods, and mode of naloxone administration. Available equipment and resources also vary by provider scope and training, as well as organizational policies and procedures.

The following equipment may be available for opioid poisoning response:

- Basic equipment (e.g., naloxone kit):
 - o naloxone ampoules and safety syringes or intranasal naloxone
 - CPR face shield or pocket mask
 - o basic personal protective equipment (e.g., gloves)
 - o sharps disposal container
- Advanced equipment (e.g., crash cart):
 - o basic equipment plus
 - o pulse oximeter
 - o oral and nasopharyngeal airways
 - o bag-valve-mask
 - o simple face mask
 - o supplemental oxygen
 - o suction and yankauer catheters
 - o automatic external defibrillator (AED)
 - blood pressure cuff and stethoscope
 - o thermometer
 - o glucometer
 - o pen light
 - o emergency medications (e.g., epinephrine, glucose tabs)
 - o sharps disposal container
 - timekeeper (e.g., clock, phone)
 - o personal protective equipment
 - o and any other emergency supplies

Many advanced response practices are restricted activities for regulated health professionals (e.g., inserting a nasopharyngeal airway). Providers need to be aware of their professional scope of practice, organizational policies, and individual competence.

Conduct an Initial Rapid Assessment of the Scene

Check the scene and implement precautions and procedures:

- 1. Identify potential hazards and risks (e.g., hazardous materials, sharps, access to emergency response equipment).
- 2. Apply necessary precautions and measures (e.g., personal protective equipment, safe removal of sharps).

Observe the person to determine if an opioid poisoning is suspected. Typical signs are:

- 1. Decreased level of consciousness^d
 - a. Drowsiness, sedation, lethargy, or confusion
 - b. Unresponsive or decreased response to verbal or painful stimuli
- 2. Slow or no breathing
 - a. No breaths or less than 10 breaths per minute (opioid-induced respiratory depression)
 - b. Slow, irregular, or shallow breathing
 - c. Presence of abnormal sounds such as choking, gurgling, snoring, wheezing or agonal breathing (i.e., gasping)
 - d. Decreased oxygen saturation (less than 90% on room air by pulse oximetry)
 - e. Skin, lips, and fingernails appear grey or ashen in darker skin tones, or blue or purple in lighter skin tones
 - f. Cold and clammy skin
 - g. Pinpoint or constricted pupils

Complex opioid poisoning signs are:

- 1. Abnormal heart rate (more than 100 or less than 60 beats per minute) or rhythm
- 2. Muscle rigidity
- 3. Abnormal muscle movements

^d Use the relevant mental status assessment tool endorsed by your organization, such as the Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS), Alert-Verbal-Pain-Unresponsive (AVPU) Scale, Pasero Opioid-Induced Sedation Scale (POSS), Richmond Agitation and Sedation Scale (RASS), or Stage of Intoxication Scale.

- 4. Dizziness, confusion, light-headedness or fainting (due to low blood pressure)
- 5. Seizure
- 6. Vomiting
- 7. Unequal pupil size (anisocoria)
- 8. Cardiac Arrest

If the scene is safe to proceed, precautions have been implemented, and opioid poisoning is suspected, respond quickly and follow the SAVE ME steps.

SAVE ME Steps

<u>S</u>timulate

Assess level of consciousness and elicit a response.

- 1. Use verbal stimuli.
 - a. Call their name, ask a question, or make noise.
 - b. If they are responsive, encourage them to take deep breaths.
- 2. If they do not respond, use noxious stimuli.
 - a. Firmly squeeze the trapezius muscle, or apply pressure to the side of the finger or the fingertip for 10-20 seconds.^e
 - i. Always say what you are going to do before touching someone, even if they are non-responsive.
- 3. If they do not respond, activate the relevant emergency response procedure.
 - a. Call 911, Code Blue, etc.

Proceed to the next step: Airway.

<u>A</u>irway

Assess for respiratory depression and maintain patent airway.

1. Determine ventilation and oxygenation status.

^e Evidence shows that both sternum rubs and pressure to the nailbed can cause damage, such as bruising and rib fractures for sternum rubs, and loss of fingernails and sensation with nailbed pressure.³¹ These methods of eliciting a pain response are no longer recommended.

- a. Assess respiratory rate^f and quality of respirations.
- b. Assess oxygen saturation using an oximeter^g (if available) and clinical signs or symptoms of hypoxia.
- c. Assess airway patency and protection.
- 2. Maintain airway.
 - a. Look inside mouth and remove any visible obstructions (e.g., needle cap)
 - i. Do not perform a finger sweep if unable to see anything in their mouth, as this may push an object deeper into their airway.
 - ii. If there is vomit in their mouth, suction orally (if it is within professional scope of practice and available) or turn them on their side and with gloved hands, scoop out any visible vomit.
 - b. If the person is sitting in a chair or slumped position, protect their head and, while using appropriate body mechanics, slide them onto their back on the floor.^h
 - c. If available and within scope of practice, insert an airway.ⁱ Jaw or teeth clenching may make it hard to put in an airway.
- 3. Check for a pulse^j for no longer than 10 seconds.^k
 - a. If no pulse, begin CPR with chest compressions and rescue breathing immediately. Use an AED if available.

^g Oxygen saturation should be more than 90% on room air.

^h Staff are encouraged to review their organizational policies and procedures regarding safe transfer of individuals (e.g., those in a wheelchair).

ⁱ Usual practice is to insert an oropharyngeal airway. If unable, consider insertion of nasopharyngeal airway if in professional scope of practice and competent.

^j The carotid pulse is recommended in unconscious persons because the absence of a radial pulse (at the wrist) does not indicate the absence of a heartbeat, only that it isn't strong enough to reach the end of the arm. A carotid pulse check is the most reliable in an unconscious person.³⁵

^f For individuals with opioid-induced respiratory depression, a respiratory rate of 10 or more breaths per minute is considered normal.^{9,32}

^k Taking no more than 10 seconds to check for a pulse is critical so as not to delay starting CPR.³⁴

If a pulse is detected, proceed to next step Ventilate if⁹:

- Less than 12 breaths per minute unassisted OR
- Oxygen saturation is less than 90% on room air AND
- Unusual breathing sounds OR
- Airway obstruction or unable to protect airway.

<u>V</u>entilate

Provide assisted ventilation and oxygenation.

- 1. Perform head-tilt-chin-lift or jaw thrust maneuver.
- 2. Provide assisted ventilation and supplemental oxygen, if within scope of practice.
 - i. 1 breath every 5 seconds using a CPR face shield or pocket mask OR
 - ii. a simple face mask or non-rebreather with oxygen at 6-10 litres per minute, or a bag-valve-mask at 15-25 litres per minute
- 3. If the person starts breathing normally on their own at any time:
 - a. Place them in the recovery position.¹
 - b. Monitor respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, and level of consciousness.
 - c. If respiratory depression recurs, repeat SAVE ME steps.

Proceed to next step: *Evaluate*.

<u>E</u>valuate

Reassess clinical status.

- 1. Reassess ventilation and oxygenation.
 - a. Assess respiratory rate and quality of respirations.
 - b. Assess oxygen saturation using an oximeter (if available) and clinical signs or symptoms of hypoxia.
 - c. Assess airway patency and protection.
 - i. Re-insert airway if necessary.
- 2. Reassess level of consciousness.

¹ The recovery position involves putting a person on their side in a stable position (i.e., not able to roll onto their stomach) that does not put pressure on their chest and allows their head to rest on their arm or the ground, with the chin lifted away from the throat. This is intended to reduce airway obstruction (e.g., the person's tongue), reduce the risk of aspiration (e.g., breathing in vomit), and reduce chest pressure—particularly if a person cannot be continuously monitored.³⁸

- a. Assess verbal and pain stimuli responses.
- 3. Reassess pulse.
 - a. If no pulse, begin CPR with compressions and rescue breathing immediately. Use an AED if available.

If respiratory rate is less than 10 breaths per minute unassisted, *OR* oxygen saturation is less than 90% on room air, proceed to *Medication*.

<u>M</u>edication

Administer naloxone.

- Inject 0.4 (1 ampoules) IM into deltoid or vastus lateralis, OR
- Spray one dose (4 mg) of NAS into nostril, OR
- Healthcare facilities: 0.04 mg to 0.1 mg through intravenous (IV).

Naloxone dosing

First dose and subsequent dosing

The recommended first dose of naloxone is 0.4 mg IM every 3 minutes; 4 mg intranasal (NAS) spray every 3-5 minutes; and 0.04 mg to 0.1 mg through intravenous (IV) in healthcare facilities.

There is a risk of precipitating acute opioid withdrawal when multiple naloxone doses are given²⁰; however, this risk should be weighed against the risk of brain injury or death when a person does not get enough oxygen. The risks of an unmanaged opioid poisoning where the person is not getting oxygen are greater than those associated with acute opioid withdrawal. Responders should prioritize the delivery of oxygen and restoring breathing. In some cases, this may require multiple doses of naloxone.³⁰⁻³²

Escalated dosing schedule

Clinical settings with adequate resources (e.g., acute inpatient settings) may use an escalated dosing schedule. If clinical assessment indicates an insufficient response to the initial dose, repeat doses are administered every 2 minutes intravenously (IV).

If there is insufficient response to the initial dose, subsequent doses should be administered every 2 minutes IV to reverse respiratory depression according to the following schedule: 0.4 mg IV; 0.8 mg IV; 2 mg IV, 4 mg IV, and 10 mg IV as a final dose if there is high clinical suspicion of opioid intoxication. ^{18,33} If there is no response after this dosing schedule, alternate causes should be explored. ⁹ Proceed to next step: Evaluate & Support.

Evaluate & Support

Reassess clinical status.

- 1. Allow naloxone enough time to work (3 minutes IM; 3-5 minutes NAS; 2 minutes IV). Continue to provide assisted ventilation.³²
- 2. Reassess ventilation and oxygenation status.
 - i. Assess respiratory rate and quality of respirations.
 - ii. Assess oxygen saturation using an oximeter (if available) and clinical signs and symptoms of hypoxia.
 - iii. Assess airway patency and protection.
 - i. Re-insert airway if necessary.

If there continues to be respiratory depression, repeat *Medication* and *Evaluate & Support*:

1. Give another dose of naloxone if respiratory rate is less than 12 breaths per minute unassisted, *OR* oxygen saturation is less than 90% on room air.

If breathing returns to normal, stop SAVE ME steps and provide support:

- 1. Place in the recovery position.
- 2. Monitor respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, and level of consciousness.
- 3. If respiratory depression recurs, repeat SAVE ME steps.

Continue following SAVE ME steps and escalated dosing schedule until the person becomes responsive or breathing is restored, or 911 or other emergency response arrives. In rural and remote communities, it may take emergency services longer to arrive. In these cases, it is recommended that providers account for this and have additional supplies ready and prepared to manage the situation for longer amounts of time.

SAVE ME Steps Graphic

How to Respond to an Opioid Poisoning



Prolonged Sedation

The term "prolonged sedation" refers to when a person is unresponsive and cannot be woken up for an extended period (usually a few hours) after an opioid poisoning has been reversed and their breathing is normal. This may be due to the presence of potent non-opioid central nervous system depressants, such as xylazine or benzodiazepines, or other novel or unknown contaminants, in the unregulated opioid supply. During a prolonged sedation:

- Place the person in the recovery position to protect their airway.
 - a. Reposition them every 30 minutes to reduce the risk of injury, such as "Saturday night palsy".^{34m} Adjust their joints (e.g., wrists, neck) for comfort, and relieve areas of pressure by wedging blankets or rolled-up clothing underneath pressure areas (e.g., hips).
- Do not leave the person alone. It is critical to continue monitoring and supporting their breathing.
 - a. If frequent observation is not possible, transfer the person to an alternative care environment (e.g., hospital) that can provide monitoring and medical care.
- Do not assume a person is experiencing prolonged sedation because of contaminated opioids. Several other conditions can cause unresponsiveness including brain injury, high or low blood sugar, heart conditions, and other substances.
 - a. Regulated healthcare professionals may conduct a comprehensive head-to-toe assessment to investigate other potential causes or contributors, such as neurological and cardiac assessments and blood glucose monitoring.
- Continue to follow the SAVE ME steps if opioid poisoning remains the primary suspected cause of sedation.
- Consider storing and securing the person's items to prevent loss.

Conduct a Secondary Assessment

If clinically indicated, conduct a rapid and systematic secondary assessment to ensure ongoing management and evaluation of clinical condition. This includes airway management and additional doses of naloxone, as indicated.

^m Saturday night palsy is a relatively common condition where the radial nerve is compressed from prolonged immobilization in an unnatural position, wherein an individual is not conscious enough to correct their position, resulting in motor and sensory deficits.

Clinical indications for secondary assessment include:

- Underlying cause of clinical presentation is unknown or uncertain
- New or unresolved signs or symptoms appear after SAVE ME steps (e.g., prolonged sedation)
- The appearance of new or ongoing clinical issues

Secondary assessment components depend upon:

- The person's known past medical or health history
- The person's current medications
- The person's clinical presentation
- Trends in the unregulated drug supply
- The responder's scope of practice
- The responder's clinical judgment

Secondary assessment may involve:

- A focused health history
 - o Presenting signs and symptoms
 - o Allergies
 - Medications
 - Relevant medical history
 - o Events related to current presentation
- Vital signs
- Pain assessment
- Blood glucose level
- Neurologic assessment
 - Pupil size
 - FAST screen (facial drooping, arm or limb weakness, speech, time of onset)
- Cardiovascular assessment
 - Pulse rate and rhythm
 - o Apical auscultation
 - Extremity capillary refill
- Respiratory assessment

- o Auscultate breaths
- o Inspect chest
- Accessory muscles
- \circ Cough
- o Sputum
- Skin assessment
 - o Hydration
 - o Medication patches
 - \circ Colour
 - Temperature
 - Diaphoresis
- Signs of infection
 - Elevated temperature
 - Coughing
 - o Wounds
 - Cellulitis
- Signs of physical trauma
 - Head injury
 - o Bruising
 - o Lacerations
 - o Fractures
- Odour (e.g., ethanol, fruity breath)
- Signs of seizure activity

Consider referral or consultation with available advanced care practitioner (e.g., NP, MD) if secondary assessment indicates a particularly complex opioid poisoning, or assessment findings indicate a response that requires additional assessment and clinical management. If this is not available, escalate to emergency care for further medical assessment and treatment.

Considerations for People who are Pregnant or Breast/Chestfeeding

People who are pregnant or breast/chest-feeding and using substances experience significant stigma and discrimination as well as drug poisonings. Fear of child separation and substance use surveillance is a driver of drug poisoning among parenting people. Parenting women identify the fear of child welfare involvement and child separation as reasons to hide substance use and use alone, greatly increase the risk of drug poisoning.³⁵

The child welfare mandate and duty to report guidelines in BC pertain to living children and do not extend to a fetus. Non-punitive policies and relational care are necessary to support caregivers and children. Substance use or drug poisoning, without indication or concern of risks for harm to child(ren), does not necessitate a report to the Ministry of Children and Family Development (MCFD) or Indigenous Child and Family Services Agency (ICFSA).³⁶

Not all substance use affects a parent's ability to provide safe care. Health and social providers have a duty to report to the MCFD/ICFSA if there are specific, imminent concerns that the parent(s) or family are unable to provide safe care due to significant impairment in judgement, behaviour, or level of consciousness where there are no adequate arrangements for the child(ren)'s care.³⁶

Approach care with people who are pregnant or breast/chest-feeding by following the <u>Provincial</u> <u>Blueprint for a Perinatal Substance Use Continuum of Care</u>, which includes the guiding principles of trauma- and violence-informed care, Indigenous cultural safety and anti-racism, and harm reduction.

Opioid Poisoning Response for Pregnant Persons

Although data is limited on the use of naloxone during pregnancy ¹⁸, administration of naloxone is recommended for suspected opioid poisonings in pregnant persons as the benefits (i.e., reversal of potentially fatal drug poisoning or extended oxygen deprivation) outweigh the risks (i.e., precipitated withdrawal). Despite the potential for precipitated withdrawal to cause fetal distress and premature labour ³⁷, administration of naloxone should be prioritized to prevent fatality.

Management of suspected opioid poisoning during pregnancy follows standard recommendations, with additional considerations:

- If available, use IV naloxone (0.04 mg to 0.1 mg).
- If IV naloxone is unavailable, administer the lowest effective initial dose of naloxone (0.4 mg IM) to avoid precipitating withdrawal ³⁸. Repeat dosing depending on the route of

administration (3 minutes IM; 3-5 minutes NAS; 2 minutes IV) until breathing normally unassisted ³⁸.

- Use NAS naloxone (4 mg)³⁹ only if no other formulations are available, as the risk for precipitated withdrawal is greater with NAS due to significantly higher plasma levels of naloxone.
 - Administer doses based on respiratory rate. If more than one dose of NAS naloxone is administered, anticipate precipitated withdrawal in the pregnant person and fetus ³⁹.
- After 20 weeks gestation, the weight of the uterus can cause aortocaval compression in the supine position, decreasing cardiac output and blood pressure ³⁸. To relieve pressure and improve circulation:
 - Tilt the person 15-30 degrees to their left by wedging soft items (e.g., pillows, blankets) under their right buttock or hip. The right hip should be higher than the left.
 - $\circ~$ If within scope of practice and individual competence, manually displace the uterus to the person's left. 38

Following opioid poisoning response:

- Provide support with non-judgmental, de-stigmatizing language.
- Offer additional services and supports as determined and desired by the pregnant person receiving care. This includes information on available harm reduction services and practices, including culturally-relevant supports, as well as connection to perinatal substance use services.
- Discuss the person's preferences and offer transport to a healthcare facility (depending on site resources and location) for post-opioid poisoning monitoring of maternal and fetal health.

Opioid Poisoning Response in Breast/chest-feeding Persons

Administration of naloxone to people who are lactating does not cause infant exposure to naloxone through human milk. Naloxone may be excreted in human milk, however it is not bioavailable when ingested by an infant ⁴⁰.

- Naloxone should be administered to a person who is breast/chest-feeding without concern for adverse effects on the breast/chest-fed infant.^{46,47}
- If naloxone is given to a person breast/chest-feeding, it is important to monitor the infant and seek urgent care for signs of opioid withdrawal as well as respiratory depression, increased sleepiness, difficulty feeding, or limpness.⁴⁹⁻⁵¹

Following an opioid poisoning response:

- Through collaborative consultation with person who is breastfeeding/chest-feeding and their healthcare team, explore and determine the optimal feeding option ⁴¹ for their situation. The decision to breastfeed/chest-feed is personal and each situation is different ^{41,42}.
 - There is a risk for opioid poisoning if a child consumes opioids through human milk ⁴³.
 Opioid poisoning in a child requires urgent monitoring and care ^{44,45}. If the lactating person regularly uses unregulated substance, the safest option is for the child is to avoid breastfeeding/chest-feeding ⁴¹. For people who prefer to breastfeed/chest-feed, a temporary pause breastfeeding/chest-feeding until the opioid is out of the lactating person's system can reduce the risk for opioid poisoning ^{42,46}.
- Monitor the breast/chest-feeding child closely and escalate care if they show signs of opioid withdrawal or opioid poisoning ^{43,47}.
 - While naloxone is not bioavailable to the infant through human milk, cessation of breastfeeding following opioid poisoning may cause abrupt cessation of opioids available in the milk ^{18,40}. The abrupt cessation of opioids may contribute to opioid withdrawal in a child that has developed opioid tolerance ^{37,47,48}. Opioid withdrawal in a child requires urgent monitoring and care ^{44,49}.
 - The amount of opioids in breastmilk and subsequent risk for adverse events are influenced by the type of substance ingested by the person who is lactating, patterns of the lactating parent's substance use, the child's age, lactation stage, and lactating parent and child health histories ^{43,50,51} as well as the potency and variability of the unregulated drug supply.

Potential Complications

The most common adverse effect of naloxone is acute opioid withdrawal. A rare but severe complication is noncardiogenic pulmonary edema ^{52,53}.

Acute Opioid Withdrawal

Naloxone, particularly when multiple doses are administered, can cause acute opioid withdrawal if the person has opioid tolerance ^{19,45,54}.³²

Signs and Symptoms of Acute Opioid Withdrawal			
tachycardia	diarrhea	tremor	
sweating	nausea	anxiety	
chills	vomiting	irritability	
muscle or joint pain	abdominal cramps	dilated pupils	

Withdrawal from other substances, such as benzodiazepines or alcohol, can present similarly to acute opioid withdrawal and require differentiation.

Noncardiogenic Pulmonary Edema

Naloxone-induced noncardiogenic pulmonary edema (NCPE) is a rare complication that can occur 12-24 hours after naloxone administration. Naloxone-induced NCPE is an acute condition where excess fluid in the lungs causes difficulties breathing, making it difficult for oxygen to be delivered to the body⁵². NCPE usually presents as acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) characterized by acute onset respiratory distress with dyspnea, tachypnea, increased work of breathing, and hypoxia. This condition is life-threatening and requires immediate emergency medical treatment. Monitoring for hypotension, ventricular tachycardia or fibrillation, and pulmonary edema in patients with pre-existing cardiac disease⁵² is recommended.

Monitoring and Follow-Up Care

Rebound Opioid Poisoning

Intramuscular naloxone works for around 30-120 minutes, while most opioids last much longer in the body.^{20,55} After naloxone is given, a secondary opioid poisoning may occur due to the presence of opioids in the body after naloxone wears off.^{9,20} These opioids return to the opioid receptors that naloxone vacated, which—depending on the amount and potency of the opioid—can result in another opioid poisoning event.

Following naloxone administration, closely monitor respiratory and mental status, or if this is not possible, follow organizational policy to transfer the person receiving care to an alternative care environment (e.g., emergency) where ongoing clinical monitoring is available.

If unable to closely monitor or transfer the person to an alternative care environment (e.g., the person declines monitoring, staffing shortages), providers are encouraged to offer information on harm reduction strategies related to rebound opioid poisoning, including⁸:

- Intramuscular naloxone works for around 30-90 minutes in the body.
 - a. Intranasal naloxone can last longer in the body, for around 2 hours.²⁶⁻²⁹
- Rebound opioid poisoning can happen after naloxone wears off because the effects of most opioids last longer than naloxone.
- If the person has a tolerance to opioids and naloxone has caused acute withdrawal, unpleasant opioid withdrawal symptoms will improve when naloxone wears off.
- If there is naloxone in their body, taking more opioids within 90 minutes will not result in typical effects (e.g., pain relief, euphoria).
- Recommend someone check their breathing and consciousness at minimum every 15 minutes for the next 90 minutes. That person needs to have a naloxone kit and know how to use it, and be able to call for help if needed.
- Recommend avoiding use of opioids for a minimum of 2 hours (120 minutes) following the last dose of naloxone due to the risk of secondary opioid poisoning.

A Calm, Supportive Environment

After opioid poisoning response, give the person receiving care space and ensure a safe, calm, and quiet environment as they wake up and become reoriented. This includes decreasing environmental stimulation (e.g., dim lights, turn off music, request bystanders move away) and offering food and beverages, if available.

Regaining consciousness in an unfamiliar environment without memory of preceding events in addition to the discomfort of withdrawal can cause anxiety, fear, and agitation. Larger doses of naloxone may cause precipitated opioid withdrawal and physical discomfort.²⁰

Use a trauma-informed approach to explain what happened to the person who experienced the opioid poisoning. This includes where they are, the time, and the amount of naloxone given. This may include a brief explanation of the specific events that happened during the opioid poisoning and the reasons for naloxone.

Be prepared for a range of responses from the person who experienced the opioid poisoning. While attending to personal safety and the safety of others, respect their self-determination if they do not want to speak about the event, or appear agitated or angry.

Education

Offer information on harm reduction strategies for future safety planning:

- Use with another person.
- If using alone, have a drug poisoning response plan with someone (e.g., have them check on you when you are planning to use).
- Consider a virtual service such as Lifeguard or Brave apps, or a phone service such as NORS.
- Use with an episodic overdose prevention service (eOPS) provider or at an overdose prevention site (OPS).
- Where to access drug checking services, safer supply, and harm reduction supplies.
- A take home naloxone kit and training.

If appropriate and desired by the person receiving care, provide information on local substance use treatment services and referrals:

- For OAT clinics accepting new patients, see the <u>BC Centre on Substance Use.</u>
- For information on perinatal substance use, see the <u>BC Women's Hospital Perinatal Substance</u> <u>Use Program.</u>
- For information on Indigenous treatment centres, see the First Nations Health Authority.

Additional Resources

• Toward the Heart offers information on <u>safer drug use</u> (inhalation and injection).

- Toward the Heart provides a <u>site finder tool</u> to search for local overdose prevention sites, harm reduction supplies, naloxone distribution sites, and hormone injection supplies.
- To find local drug checking services, see the <u>BCCSU Drug Checking Sites.</u>
- To receive <u>Toxic Drug and Health Alerts</u> by text message, text "JOIN" to 253787 (ALERTS).

Unusual Drug Poisoning Events or Clusters

Due to the unpredictability of the toxic unregulated drug supply, emerging trends and drug poisoning events provide valuable information for people who use substances and those who respond to drug poisonings.

Providers and people who use substances are encouraged to notify the <u>BCCDC Harm Reduction and</u> <u>Substance Use Services</u>, as well as their appropriate regional health authority toxic drug alert system, of clusters of unusual or complex drug poisonings, including severe drug poisonings or other trends.

Documentation

Documentation requirements differ across organizations, sites, and between regulated and nonregulated providers. Documentation requirements are determined by organizational guidelines and professional standards and regulations.

It is important for all providers to know their organizational documentation requirements related to drug poisoning response. Regulated health professionals should also understand their unique professional documentation responsibilities.

Documentation for Regulated Health Professionals

Regulated health professionals are required to document according to their organizational policies and procedures as well as their professional regulatory body's standards and guidelines for practice.

Nurses

- include licensed practical nurses, nurse practitioners, registered nurses, and registered psychiatric nurses.
- make up a large number of regulated providers who respond to drug poisonings in health settings across BC.
- must meet their regulatory body's (<u>BC College of Nurses and Midwives</u>) guidelines and standards.
- who provide care during a drug poisoning response are required to document all emergency events (e.g., drug poisoning), medication administration (e.g., naloxone), interventions and response in the person's medical record.

Documentation for Health Authority Sites

- Provincial and regional health authority sites using the BC Patient Safety and Learning System (PSLS) are required to report a drug poisoning as a patient safety event in PSLS.
 - The PSLS report is not linked to a patient and should not include identifying patient information.
- Sites should follow their health authority policy for guidance on any other required reporting procedures.

Debriefing and Support

There are local and provincial supports available for individuals responding to drug poisonings, regardless of the context (e.g., first-time responders, multiple and complex or fatal events). Providers and organizations are encouraged to prioritize normalizing debriefing and creating space after critical events such as drug poisonings. The <u>Provincial Overdose Mobile Response Team</u> is available to all providers, and offers psychosocial support to people working in and responding to drug poisonings.

References

- 1. Muncan B, Walters SM, Ezell J, Ompad DC. "They look at us like junkies": influences of drug use stigma on the healthcare engagement of people who inject drugs in New York City. *Harm Reduction Journal*. 2020;17(1):53.
- 2. Urbanoski K, Pauly B, Inglis D, et al. Defining culturally safe primary care for people who use substances: a participatory concept mapping study. *BMC health services research.* 2020;20(1):1-12.
- 3. BC Coroners Service. Illicit Drug Toxicity Deaths in BC, January 1, 2016- December 31, 2022. Summary Infographic. <u>https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/birth-adoption-death-marriage-and-divorce/deaths/coroners-service/statistical/bccs_illicit_drug_summary_infographic_2016-2022_infographic.pdf2023.</u>
- 4. BC Coroners Service. BC Coroners Service Death Review Panel: A Review of Illicit Drug Toxicity Deaths. In:2022.
- 5. Belzak L, & Halverson, J. . The opioid crisis in Canada: a national perspective. . *Health promotion and chronic disease prevention in Canada: research, policy and practice.* 2018;38(6):224–233.
- 6. First Nations Health Authority. First Nations and the Toxic Drug Poisoning Crisis in BC January-December 2022. In. <u>https://www.fnha.ca/Documents/FNHA-First-Nations-and-the-Toxic-Drug-Poisoning-Crisis-in-BC-Jan-Dec-2022.pdf2023b</u>.
- 7. First Nations Health Authority. First Nations and the Toxic Drug Poisoning Crisis in BC (Jan to June 2023 data infographic). In. <u>https://www.fnha.ca/Documents/FNHA-First-Nations-and-the-Toxic-Drug-Poisoning-Crisis-in-BC-Jan-June-2023.pdf2023</u>.
- 8. Brett J, Murnion B. Management of benzodiazepine misuse and dependence. *Australian prescriber.* 2015;38(5):152.
- 9. BC Drug and Poison Information Centre. Opioid Overdose Best Practices Guideline. In:2017.
- 10. Dolinak D. Opioid Toxicity. *Academic Forensic pathology.* 2017;7(1):19–35.
- 11. National Harm Reduction Coalition. Opioid overdose basics: overdose risks and prevention. In. <u>https://harmreduction.org/issues/overdose-prevention/overview/overdose-basics/opioid-od-risks-prevention/2020</u>.
- 12. Soleimanpour H, Safari, S., Nia, K. S., Sanaie, S., & Alavian, S. M. Opioid drugs in patients with liver disease: a systematic review. *Hepatitis monthly.* 2016;16(4).
- 13. World Health Organization. Opioid overdose In. <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/opioid-overdose2023</u>.
- 14. Stephens E. Opioid Toxicity Differential Diagnoses. In: https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/815784-differential, ed2023.
- 15. Kinshella MLW, Gauthier, T. & Lysyshyn, M. . Rigidity, dyskinesia and other atypical overdose presentations observed at a supervised injection site, Vancouver, Canada. *Harm Reduction Journal.* 2018;15(64).
- 16. Stolbach A, Hoffman RS. Acute opioid intoxication in adults. *UpToDate.* 2024.
- 17. Thanacoody R. Opioid overdose. *BMJ Best Practice* 2023.
- 18. BC Drug and Poison Information Centre. Naloxone antidote. In. Poison Management Manual 2017.
- 19. Naloxone. StatPearls Publishing; 2022. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK441910/

- 20. Baxter Canada. Product Monograph Including Patient Medication Information. Naloxone Hydrochloride Injection, USP. In:2021.
- 21. Sandoz Canada. Product monograph. Naloxone Hydrochloride Injection USP. In:2011.
- 22. Canada. S. Product monograph. Naloxone Hydrochloride Nasal Spray. In:2016.
- 23. College of Pharmacists of BC. Naloxone. In. https://www.bcpharmacists.org/naloxonen.d.
- 24. BC College of Nurses and Midwives. Overdose Crisis. Accessed May 29, 2023.
- 25. BC Laws. Health Professions General Regulation, BC Reg. 275/2008. Health Professions Act. In:2020.
- 26. Dietze P, Jauncey M, Salmon A, et al. Effect of intranasal vs intramuscular naloxone on opioid overdose: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA network open.* 2019;2(11):e1914977-e1914977.
- 27. Skulberg AK, Tylleskär I, Valberg M, et al. Comparison of intranasal and intramuscular naloxone in opioid overdoses managed by ambulance staff: a double-dummy, randomised, controlled trial. *Addiction.* 2022;117(6):1658-1667.
- 28. Ryan SA, Dunne RB. Pharmacokinetic properties of intranasal and injectable formulations of naloxone for community use: a systematic review. *Pain management.* 2018;8(3):231-245.
- 29. McDonald R, Lorch U, Woodward J, et al. Pharmacokinetics of concentrated naloxone nasal spray for opioid overdose reversal: Phase I healthy volunteer study. *Addiction*. 2018;113(3):484-493.
- 30. Skolnick P. Treatment of overdose in the synthetic opioid era. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics.* 2022;233(108019).
- 31. Mégarbane B, Oberlin, M., Alvarez, J. C., Balen, F., Beaune, S., Bédry, R., Chauvin, A., Claudet, I., Danel, V., Debaty, G., Delahaye, A., Deye, N., Gaulier, J. M., Grossenbacher, F., Hantson, P., Jacobs, F., Jaffal, K., Labadie, M., Labat, L., Langrand, J., ... Cerf, C. . Management of pharmaceutical and recreational drug poisoning. *Annals of Intensive Care.* 2020;10(1):157.
- 32. Moe J, Godwin, J., Purssell, R., O'Sullivan, F., Hau, J. P., Purssell, E., ... & Hohl, C. M. . Naloxone dosing in the era of ultra-potent opioid overdoses: a systematic review. *Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine.* 2020;22(2):178-186.
- 33. BC Emergency Health Services. Clinical Practice Guidelines- Opioids. In:2021.
- 34. Ansari FH, Juergens AL. Saturday Night Palsy. 2020.
- 35. Boyd J, Maher L, Austin T, Lavalley J, Kerr T, McNeil R. Mothers Who Use Drugs: Closing the Gaps in Harm Reduction Response Amidst the Dual Epidemics of Overdose and Violence in a Canadian Urban Setting. *American Journal of Public Health.* 2022;112(S2).
- 36. Government of BC. B.C. Handbook for Action on Child Abuse and Neglect for Service Providers. In:2017.
- 37. Patrick SW, Barfield, W. D., Poindexter, B. B., Cummings, J., Hand, I., Adams-Chapman, I., ... & Walker-Harding, L. . Neonatal opioid withdrawal syndrome. *Pediatrics.* 2020;146(5).
- 38. Blandthorn J, Bowman, E., Leung, L., Bonomo, Y., & Dietze, P. . Managing opioid overdose in pregnancy with take-home naloxone. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology.* 2018;60(5):E11-E12.
- 39. Bonomo Y, Pastor, A., Leung, L., Blandthorn, J., & Dietze, P. Managing opioid overdose in pregnancy with nasal naloxone. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology.* 2020;60(5):E11-E12.

- 40. Briggs G, Freeman, R., Towers, C.V., & Forinash, A. . *Drugs in Pregnancy and Lactation 11th Edition.* Wolters Kluwer; 2017.
- 41. Nathoo T, Stinson, J., Poole, N., Wolfson, L. Taking Care: A Short Guide to Breastfeeding and Substance Use. In: Health CoEfWs, ed. Vancouver, BC2021.
- 42. Bartholomew ML, Lee M-J. Substance use in the breastfeeding woman. 2019.
- 43. Hendrickson RG, McKeown NJ. Is maternal opioid use hazardous to breast-fed infants? In. Vol 50: Taylor & Francis; 2012:1-14.
- 44. Weller AE, Crist RC, Reiner BC, Doyle GA, Berrettini WH. Neonatal opioid withdrawal syndrome (NOWS): a transgenerational echo of the opioid crisis. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine*. 2021;11(3).
- 45. Pergolizzi JV, Raffa, R.B., & Rosenblatt, M.H. . Opioid withdrawal symptoms, a consequence of chronic opioid use and opioid use disorder: Current understanding and approaches to management. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacy & Therapeutics.* 2020;45(5):892-903.
- 46. MothertoBaby. *Fact Sheets: Naloxone.* The Organization of Teratology Information Specialists;2022.
- 47. Albert CA. Naloxone and naltrexone. Pain: A Review Guide. 2019:301-305.
- 48. Reddy UM, Davis, J. M., Ren, Z., & Greene, M. F. . Opioid use in pregnancy, neonatal abstinence syndrome, and childhood outcomes: executive summary of a joint workshop by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, American Congress of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, American Academy of Pediatrics, Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, and the March of Dimes Foundation. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*. 2020;130(1):10.
- 49. Whelan KT, Heckmann MK, Lincoln PA, Hamilton SM. Pediatric withdrawal identification and management. *Journal of Pediatric Intensive Care.* 2015;4(02):073-078.
- 50. Hale TW, Krutsch K. Opioid use in breastfeeding mothers and neonatal risks. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2021;109:573-575.
- 51. Zipursky J, Juurlink DN. The implausibility of neonatal opioid toxicity from breastfeeding. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics.* 2020;108(5):964-970.
- 52. Noncardiogenic Pulmonary Edema. StatPearls Publishing; 2021. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK542230/ Accessed Jan 2022.
- 53. Jiwa N, Sheth, H., & Silverman, R. . Naloxone-Induced Non-Cardiogenic Pulmonary Edema: A Case Report. *Drug safety case reports.* 2018;5(1):20.
- 54. Moustaqim-Barrette A PK, Williams S, Ferguson M, Moe J, Purssell R, et al. Adverse events related to bystander naloxone administration in cases of suspected opioid overdose in British Columbia: An observational study. *PLoS ONE* 2021;16(10).
- 55. Bateman JT, Saunders SE, Levitt ES. Understanding and countering opioid-induced respiratory depression. *British journal of pharmacology.* 2023;180(7):813-828.